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Pickling Plant Conflict Report

1 . Beginning of the Pickline Plant

Canning of surplus project vegetables had begun when 1500
segregated Tuleans arrived in the Minidoka Relocation Center in
October, X94-3. The cannery waa then under the supervision of Dan
Sheehan in the Engineering Division, which in turn was in the
Operations Division, under Assistant Project Director Davidson.
Both Davidson and Sheehan were reputed to be syiapathetic toward
evacuees and to have their confidence* As the supervisor of the
cannery Davidson selected a newly-arrived TuXean, Richard Sato, with
whoa he had become acquainted while working in the San Francisco
office of the WRA* Sato was a Nisei college graduate, 27 years of
age, who had headed the agriculture technical staff at Tule Lake.
Davidson was anxious to preserve surplus project vegetables through
dehydration, and was anxious to gain Sato*s assistance in this field,
since Sato had written to him on this subject when he was in Tula
Lake Since a dehydration machine could not be obtained, he had
placed Sato in the position of supervisor of the cannery. Sato
chose a capable foreiaan, a certain Mr. Tsujukawa, an Issei, and as
assistant his wife* M1 of the dozen workers were Issei men
women, Some of them recently from Tule Lake. Work proceeded smoothly.

When ca.mi.zig sndsd in Novsaiber, Dsividsozi a.sk@d Sa."to "to conver*t
the plant to pickling to preserve surplus vegetables from the project
farms. Sato gathered together the necessary equipment, conducted

controlled experiments, supervised the workers, and got the p~kling



plant underway* His foreman Tsujukawa transferred to another

division, and he selected an Issei named Taniguchi to take his place*
One reason for this selection was given by Sato as Taniguchi*s willing-
ness to help him in his work* Since Sato was not in the habit of

being at the plant all of the time and did not care to run errands

to the administration area, it ms convenient for Sato to have a
willing worker for a helper. This selection of foreman later proved

to be unfortunate for Sato*

In Dec ber an Industry Section was set up by Administrative
instruction in the Agricultural Division under Rawlings. He was a
relatively recent arrival on the project and considered among the
less sympathetic staff members by the evacuees. Working as his
business manager was Seiichi Hara, who was disliked by evacuees as
a stooge of the administration. Sato was made Supervisor of Industry,
and assigned the additional task of supervising the manufacture of
tofu, aside from continuing his work in the tsukemono plant. This
extra task was not a great burden since he took the policy of al-
lowing this plant, in another section of the project, to be auto-
nomous as it had been in the past. Me found it difficult to maintain
smooth relationship with Rawlings, who interfered with his close colla-
boration with Davidson*

The conflict developed through January and February. Sato found
that he had not only Rawlings to contend with, but that his own foreman,
Tanuguchi, had sided with Rawlings in opposing him, Sato was desirous

of expanding the Industry Section to include the manufacture of other



Japanese foods besides tsukemono and tofu, which Davidson had ap-
proved . In spite of opposition from Rawlings and Taniguchi Sato
wont ahead with his experiments with the production 6F koji and
gisjo, which he placed in charge of two ison- Kogita and Kano. The
conflict came to a sharp focus when Rawlings gave Taniguchi, instead
of Sato, the right to make the necessary employraent out, and the
workers protested against this by signing a petition to have Tani-

guchi resign*



2* Conditions leg.ding™to the outbreak of the conflict

Two factors which seem to have been important in leadin to the
outbreak of labor difficulty within the tsukemono plant were

a* Shifting the plant from Sheehan*s department to that of

Rawlings *=

b« The employment of Taniguchi as a foreman*

Before the above two steps were taken the plant was functioning with-
out an appreciable amount of friction. To understand why the above

EEE

EEE
in terms of their relationship to on® another and their personali-
ties, Much of this is brought out in the controversy over the ex-
pansion of the plant to include the manufacture of isiso and the method
of carrying out an employment cut* In this section a i available
material iadiich describes the conditions leading to the outbreak of
the conflict will be included.

Personnel Relationship* As characteristic of a government agency
or any large organization, the Caucasian personnel of the MA is
placed in a del inite relationship to one another. At the top is the
Project Director, Stafford, and below him three assistant Project
Directors--Miller, Pomeroy and Davidson--each in charge of a large
division* Below these three are various heads of sections, and be-
lo%r them are supervisors and foremen. At the very bottom are the
workers, who are all evacuee residents of the project, who are some-

times made foremen and supervisors*



In the past there was a definite tendency for friction to develop
among various persons as they rubbed shoulders against one another
while working together. Whenever a conflict develops between any

two individuals in the department, the tendency is for others closely
involved in the work to align themselves with one person or the other*
Thi3 aligntuent, however, does not take place haphazardly, for friend-
ships and enmities have already been formed* It is the alignment

of individuals which we desire to describe, since this seems to be

an important condition governing labor conflicts. The development of
the pickling plant conflict will also show how that alighment of forces
changes*

Stafford. The project director has had the repute~tion of being
both authoritarian and benevolent in his relations with both his
staff and evacuee residents* When the pickling plant conflict broke
out, he had left the project to attend a conference in Washington, D*C*,
and consequently did not have much to do with it. bwever, he left
in charge as acting director Miller rather than Davidson. This
seemed to indicate Stafford*s preference for Miller, since Davidson
was on the project longer than Miller and had been Acting Director
when Stafford took his vacation in December, 194-3* Davidson had
been unable to handle the boiermen walkout in Stafford*s absence, and
since then Stafford had been in the habit of consulting Miller much
more than Davidson#

Millere The head of the Administrative Management Division WlIs

a relatively recent arrival, having arrived in the fall of 1943 to



replace Shaffer* He quickly earned the reputation of being unsympa-
thetic to evacuees. His friends among the administrative personnel
seemed to be those ttoo thought in a similar vein as he, and who were
willing to carry out his orders and to support him* In this regard
it is not surprising that he upheld Rawlings* move to close down the
plant rather than to give in to the demands of the workers. Miller
did not get aloiig well with either Pomeroy or Davidson, The latter,
who had a reputation for being sympathetic to evacuees, was con-
stantly being criticized by Miller for his actions. Miller was a
"'strong" personality, like Stafford and unlike Davidson, and was not
afraid to carry out what he believed to be right. He was a transfer
from the WPA in Idaho, and is reputed to have sSOme backing from the
people in the state. When the labor conflict developed in the pickling
plant he was the highest authority on the project,

David3on« The head of the Operations Division had arrived on
the project on February 1, 1943, to take over the job of Chief of
Agriculture. HO earned a reputation for being sympathetic to evacuees
and of being able to win their cooperation* When the boiermen walked
out on their jobs because of the arrogant attitude of Sreen, a super-
visor under him, Davidson was unable to settle the dispute, and found
it necessary to call back Stafford from his vacation to settle the
dispute for him* He was known to be much more timid than Miller or
Stafford. On *the whole, Davidson got along well with evacuees working
in his division. He was desirous of setting up a dehydration plant,
and for this purpose approached Richard Sato from Tule Lake to retain

him as an assistant, since the ex-Tulean had shown knowledge of



dohydration processes. Davidson listened to Sato’s demaiui for material
to work with or extra clotting to give to his workers. HO found it
difficult, however, to control Rawlings who worked under him as Chief
of Agriculture*

Rawlings.. The Chief of Agriculture arrived on the project in
August, 194 3 and can be included among the more recent arrivals.
He soon earned a reputation for himself of being arrogant tomrd
evacuees, to lack understanding of their problems, and to be unsym-
pathetic tovrards them. Working as his office manager was Seiichi
Hara* one of the most disliked individuals on the project as an adminis
trative *stooge*M Not only Rawlings, but other Caucasions in the ad-
ministration were said to rely on Seiichi Hara for advice from time
to time, Rawlings* farm foreman was an Issei named Kamaya, whose
status on the project prior to the outbreak of the labor conflict in
the pickling plant ij unknown*

From the beginning Rawlings* relationship with Sato, who was
the supervisor of Industry, seemed to have been stormy* Sato resented
any sign of arrogance on Rawlings* part, and chose to oppose or ig-
nore him, rather than to attempt to appease him. Consequently, when
Rawlings ordered Sato to sit at a desk in the Ad Area part of the day
to carry out his work as supervisor he flatly refused to do so.
Also, when Sato wanted anything for his plant and he felt that
Rawlings would not give it to hid, he Ffirst went to Davidson to have

the matter o.k,*d before taking it to Rawlings*



Rawlings* relationship with Taniguchi, Sato*s foreman, developed
over a period of time* Sato, not caring to make trips from the hospital
area, where the tsukemono plant WwasS situated, to the Administration
Area to take time sheets and requisition sheets, trusted this task
to Taniguchi. Rawlings and Taniguchi agreed well in their ideas as
to how the pickling plant should be operated, especially iIn regards
to the conservation of material and following of administrative in-
structions.

Sato. One of the aiain participants in the labor conflict was
Sato, Supervisor of Industry. His personality seems to be somewhat
pertinent to an understanding of the conflict* He was born in the
delta region near Sacramento, California, where h© ms required to
attend a segregated school for Orientals. This experience, coupled
with the fact that he ms brought up in a large Japanese community
surrounded by hostile Gauea ians, seems to have been somewhat res-
ponsible for hig antagonism toward Caucasians in general. According
to his own confession, he could not meet a Caucasian without feeling
a chip on his shoulders. This tendency was only increased with
the development of a perverse personality. He was constantly com-
plaining about things in general, criticizing others rather severely.
Within his own block he was non-cooperative at times in such matters
as volunteering along with others for work or abiding by regulations
as when to get coal* He tended to disregard the acceptable ways of
a community and to resort to infractions whenever it was convenient*
He graduated frosi the University of California, and prided himself

on the possession of a degree. He was married to a girl who agreed



with him in all matters.

Sato*s attitude toward Cancelsian woriser on the project was ex-
traaie. He spoke of them with disrespect. He ailaintained ihat how much
a person spent on the project did not matter, as long as he kept the
people satisfied, since the budget of a little section was only a drop
in "the bucket of "the total expense* Maiirtaining "that Caucasians used
MIAquaterial for their own purpooe, he did not see why evacuees alone
should have to conserve material. He prided himself on having Mgutsn
(dokyo) in getting the better of the administration for himself or
for the evacuees

Toward his workers Sato was lenient. He himself kept a flexible
work schedule, coming to work late in the morning if he pleased, or
10a.vd.ng *the befors *th6 o*thQr v/orkers* Fox* his workers hO© triod
to get extra clothing. He allowed theci to take home siJa.IX quantities
of vegetables which were supposed to be used for pickling purposes*
When they came to work late or did not show up for work at all, he
was not in favor of reducing their pay for that reason. He was in
the habit 01 signing his "tiwe-sheet for sl w@@k in, advance, although
this was against regulations*

Sato*s attitude toward his worker is illustrated by the following
incident, when he attempted to get a C rating for his foreman, Tani-
guchx* This brings incidentally, Seiliciii Hara*s posx™ti.on*

Dick, according to his oisn accouxrt, wanted 10 get

#19 for his foreman, Taniguchi, because he worked hard*

He tries to get as much as possible for his men from the

WBA, he said. He talked the matter over with the Caucasian

in~charge (Rawlings), and finally drove the matter to a

point where the other had agreed to give Dick*s foreinan a

C rating. He was ready to resign his position, h® said,
if he couldn*t get his own way about the matter. Just

1, (@ 12/20/43 #3)



- 10.

as the Caucasian ms ready to sign the assignment

papers, Hara, who was listening in, came over and

said that it could not be done. Dick related. Dick

turned around and asked him what he knew about the

matter. Then he asked Hara to translate a para-

graph written in English* Hara could not trans-

late it, Dick,said, and he told Hara to shut up*

Dick was so eSad™*, he said, that he was ready to bust him

on the aiouth. Then he had to spend another hour or so

explaining to the Hakujin that it was alright. He said

that it had been done in Tule Lake, and there ?/as no

reason why it couldnH be done her®.—**

Sato was in favor of getting for his workers the limit, which was
still not very much* Hara was less desirous of expanding privileges
of the evacuees, and for this reason he ”.s considered a Hstoogew of
the adrainistration by many persons*

Sato was popular with most of his 19 workers. By not insisting
on their working hard or on following regulations closely, and by
getting as much for them as possible from the IRA he placed himself
on the side of the workers rather than on that of the administration*
All but a few approved of him and his way . The fact that many of
the workers were from Tule Lake and were accustoiaed to thinking as
he did might have accounted for much of his popularity* Several

workers among the others who were to play somewhat leadership roles

later on had attached themselves to Sato* These included ICogita,
Kano, and Tsue«

Taniguchi*s relation with Sato began with enthusiasm on his part
to he p the relatively younj supervisor and ended in open conflict.

As far as Sato waa concerned he treated Taniguchi equally as well as

1 . J 12/31/43 #13
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other workers. He thought that Taniguchi was a good man to replace
T3ujuk™wa as foreman because Taniguchi seemed so helpful* Since he
did not want to go up to the Administrative Area himself, he found it
convenient to employ Taniguchi to run these errands for him. More
and more, however, Taniguchi began to oppose his plans, and to listen
more to lawlings.

Another difficult worker to deal with was a Mrs* Hara (unrelated
to Seiichi Hara), a Minidokan. She was a busybody, and a former owner
of a laundry. She had sons in the Army, and prided herself on her
cooperative sentiments. For instance, when Sato was reading a book
at the plant, she would come around to turn off the light, saying that
it was unnecessary during the daytime. She would also tell other
w>rkers that they should not take any vegetable home with them. Her
excuse for this behavior was that Sato was only a koso (kid) and did
not know enough to run a plant. Sato considered her a nuisance, but
did not take any step to get rid of her.

Taniguchi Sato’s foreman was formerly a dye-work man by trade
in Seattle* In Tule Lake he was living alone, his wife having passed
away¢ He ms a devout supporter of the Episcopalian Church. He
does not seem to have distinguished himself in any way in Tule Lake*
fhen coming to Minidoka he took charge of two Kibei orphans. By
several individuals close to him he was described as a person with a
Mone-tracked mind. He was in the habit of following rules closely,
it was said, and could be expected to carry out a task which was as-
signed to him, even if it meant getting up early in the morning before

the others were up
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Taniguchi*s friendship with Rawlings and the growing split with
Sato was already mentioned. Only a few of the workers sided with him.
One of these was Mrs. Hara, whose ideas would have pleased Rawlings
very much. It was said by other workers that Mrs. Hara pushed Taniw
guchi into close collaboration with Rawlings against Sato. Another
person who attached herself to Taniguchi was a Mrs* Kawasaki* She
was married, but it was rumored bythe.workers that her relationship
with her husband was an unhappy one. She painted hsrself up ex-
cessively, and the workers suspected that her attachment to Taniguchi
was largely sexuale Except for one other worker whose position was
doubtful, all of the other workers preferred Sato to Taniguchi and
Mrs, Hara*

Hara* Senchi Hara deserves special mention* Although he was
involved in the present incident only as a background figure, he was
considered an important influence* He was foriuerly an agon*t for the
hotel owners in Seattle and was accused of buying out the hotel workers
to keep them from organizing effectively. He was also talked of as
one of the disliked men in Seattle, along with Hosokawa and Hasiguchi.
As head of the block managers and personal advisor to Stafford, he
had been for some time the most influential evacuee on the project.

It was in this capacity that he earned the reputation for being highly
pro-administration and not having proper regard for the welfare of

the residents. He seemed to have®under his influence, Kamaya, farm
supervisor. He w&s also connected wi/tli Kano, one of tiie workers,

who claimed to have once given him a loan of #500, which was still

unpaid.
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Go-between* Certain individuals took part in the conflict behind
the scene. One of these was Tsujukawa, Sato” former foreman, who
was anxious 'to see the conflict settled witlioui; Sato being sacrificed*
Another was Sakoda, Sato*s neighbor, upon whom Sato called on for assis-
tance. Sakoda was an ex-Tulean, too, and sympathized with Sato*s
struggle against Taniguchi and Rawlings.” As a research worker for
“the Study, he was interested primarily in gathering material, and
Ximli*ted his support of S*fm to what he ceuXd do behind "the scdiie*
Several times he discussed the matter with Kintaro Takeda, sin ex-Tulean
and a friend, and with Father Joe, Episcopalian aiiaister® Father
Joe was a minister but was interested in Gommunity problems outside
of the church. He was able to participate in this conflict directly
because of Taniguchi, his church member. Ken Hamada, liberal block
commissioner, also supported Sato.

2 BSEil- The Community Council was formed early in February,

but it was not until a month later that it was actually fuhctioning.

For the Council among the first problems to handle was to clé&rify

their own po™tion on the project. One of "these relationships was

that with the old leaders whom they were displacing* Within the block
this meant their relation to the block manager. On a project-wide basis
they were concerned about their relationship with such men as Seiichi
Hara, who were unofficial advisors to the project director* They

were also concerned with their relative status with the administration.
Again, they were voted into office on an unwritten platform of being

less pro-administration and more pro-resident than the old administraticn



«14.

and had yet to prove their stand to the residents.

Of the seven men who composed the Council the person who was
most acutely aware of the necessity of the leaders considering the
needs of the people more than they have in the past was probably Kintaro
Takeda, th® only ex-Tulean on the Council, Takeda was formerly a fish-
dealer in Sacramento, but at the same time ms interested in human
relationships. |In Tule Lake a a member of the Fair Practice Committee
he was instrumental in arbitrating many petty labor troubles among
messhall workers. He was primarily responsible for the success of
the slow-up kess strike Tule Lake, which resulted in the discharge
of Pilcher, a Caucasian considered by the people unsympathetic to them*
When Tuleans arrived in Minidika sind could not get adequate housing
for themselves, Taiceda landed a job on the Housing Adjustment Board,
and obtained by skilful maneuvering separate apartments for each Tulean
rafliily* He was aware of the lack of unity here in Minidoka among the
residents and the excessive amount of 7stooging™ to gain status, and
was anxious to correct this condition. He was skilful in handling
people, and did not antagonize theia by looking down on the®.

Another person on the Council who deserves mention is Yoshito
Fujii, the Chairman of the Council. He was from Seattle} and one of
the leaders of the project from the very beginning. He was considered
among the more level-headed leaders on the project. He avoided the
extremes of being considered an admiy]istrative ''stooge™ or an "agitator™**

With this description of the participants and their relationship
to one another completed, the two incidents leading to open conflict

can now be described
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Miso Experiment* After the preservation of vegetables became a
matter of routine, and the messhalXs were furnished regularly with
tsukemono Sato decided to experiment with the manufacture of aiso.
Miso was made of soy )»eans and wheat and used to make a popular
Japanese soup--aisoshiru— and for general cooking purposes* Many
Niseis did not care for misoshirur but Isseis in general welcosidd the
addition of miso to their menu, A small quantity was delivered to
the ae8shall occasionally, but the quality was reputed to be poor and
the cost to run up to 40 cents a pound. Sato himself wanted to experi«
ment with mass production of miso for his own experience because he
ha d specialized in the preservation of food in college and had am-
bitions of being a specialist iIn this field* In order to make miao.
which ms made by a process of fermentation, It was necessary to make
kojle rice with the proper bacteria culture* Koii was also used to
make sake, the popular Japanese liquor made from rice, and was a pro-
duct which required close supervision, Sato consequently took the
matter up to Davidson, who approved of a requisition of material to
experiment upon. This requisition was signed by Rawlings, and when
the material arrived, Sato waa able to begin upon his experiment.

The seriousness with which this experiment was embarked upon can
be seen from the fact that Sato wrote to the University of California
for advice when his bacteria culture was not pure. The men in charge
went at night to supervise the steaming of the koii. since it could
not be left in the steamer more than a certain length of tiiae. Two
of the leaders of the workers, Kogita and Kan©, were placed in charge

of the experiment* Kogita was an honest nian, a Minidokan, who was
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anxious to do the right thing. At the same time he was a willing
workers* On the other hand, Kano, an ex-Tulean, was a more crafty

individual. He was a hotel owner in Tacoma, but was disliked by the

coaHBuxiity there as being underhanded in his ways. He had been a

packing shed worker in Tule Lake, evidently had used his influence
with Hara to get an appointment in advance as Packing Shed Foreman
under Kamaya for the current year. Sato relegated the supervision
of the work to these two men, and attempted to keep Taniguchi away
from it.

Differences of opinion arose among those concerned as to the ad-
visability of carrying on the experiment and making plans to expand
the plant. Just where this conflict began is not know”, but gradually
individuals began to align themselves on one side or the other as
the conflict developed. Sato was the main protagonist for the experi-
ment, and he had on his aide the approval of Davidson, the majority
of the workers, and the tacit backing of most residents who heard of
the conflict. Taniguehi opposed the experiment, claiming among other
points, the fact that it was better to conserve the money spent in
such experiments and allot it to other foods. It wa« more likely,
however, that others influenced Taniguchi to take this stand. One
of the strongest opposition to the experiment came from Mrs. Hara,
who talked of conservation and seemed to believe in it firmly.
Rawlings definitely opposed the expansion of the activities of the
plant, and backed up Taniguchi on his stand. Another person who is
said to have advised against the making mise on the grounds that

Hiseis did not enjoy it was Seiichi Hara.
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One aspect of the conflict took the form of "informing" and
oi&king accusations. Taniguchi, it was later revealed, had been giving
Rawlings reports on Sato"s conduct as supervisor. He was suspected
of having designs of either selling koii or stealing the food of th©
WRA in some way in collaboration with the two men he placed in charge
of the experimentation. Rumors went around that a Sato was selling
koii in Block 12, and apparently without verifying whether thi8 was
Richard Sato or not, this was taken as evidence of Sato*s incompetence*
Coupled with the laxity allowed the workers in the matter of work
hours and taking home vegetables and with Sato*s habit of trying to
get as much as possible for his workers, these accusations became
strong. It was not true that Sato was selling koji— there was another
Sato in the block who was distributing it— but the truth of the other
accusations were not knourn. Kano, it was true, ms the sort of in-
dividual who might do something underhanded, and it was not difficult
to believe that Sato would condone it*

Rawlings issued a definite order against carrying out any further
experimentation, but Sato continued to do so more or less secretiy*

He believed that if the fflio #ere made, distributed to the masshalls,
and mass production gotten underway, the project could not be stopped
by Rawlings.

Smplovment Cut, About this time about every section was being
required to take an employoient cut to fit the project employment
to the reduced quota set by Washington* The Pickling Plant face the
prospect of a fairly drastic employment cut, since the supply of

vegetaoies produced on the project had already been processed, and
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getting vegetables from outside sources would entail extra expense
which should be carried by the Stew®.rd Section and could not be de-
pended upon. The expansion of the Plant to include other produces
besides tsukemono would have been a good reason for keeping the eia-
ployiaent cut down to a minimuffi* Consequently, the eraploysent cut was
tied in closely with the argument on the manufacture of miso* and the
job security of the workers at stake. Which group of workers would
gaia an advantage over tlie others in avoiding being discharged seemed
to depend largely on igiio had the final decision in the matter—
Rawlings, Sato, or Taniguchi*

Both the expansion of the Plant and the employment cut was
discussed at a conference attended by Rawlings, Kara, Mamaya, Tani-
guchi, and Sato. Evidently Sato had yery little influence at this
meeting, for the decision reached were all adverse for him. On
February 19,1944, following the conference, Rawlings issued a memo"T
in which he set down the following specifications:

1 . The Industry section Mvill confine its activities to the

iQan.uf&cturé of Tofu sund *thO prc8orv8."'tioii of surplus pro*
ject produced crops by pickling or canning*.* All work
of an experiiaental nature be immediately discontinued*

2* The number of workers in the pickling plant will be re-
duced from 19 to 12 for the period March 1 to June 1 "since
the supply of project produced vegetables for pickling has
now been processed and very little if any additional vege-

tables will be available until lune

X. J 3/16/44 #2
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3, Retention of the workers will be on the following batis

a* People doing work of an Mexperimental nature" should
be laid off.

b. Retain head of family or on®© worker per family*
c* Consider experience in pickling and canning.
d« Consider length of employment,

4* Mr* Taniguchi will remain as foreman and should have fTull
authority in cooperation with Mr, Hara to select workers
to be retained*M

5* Heduction to be made effective as of February 29*

Svery condition in the memo served to favor Taniguchi and those
who sided with him and to put Sato and those on his side in a dis-
advantageous position. In the first place, expansion of the Plant,
as well as experimental work, was prohibited. The number of workers
was drastically cut, with the cut definitely including workers close
to Sato* Those taking part in experiiaental work were to be laid
off first— meaning Kano and K gita, Mrs* KawaaaJdci, who sided with
Taniguchi, had all three in her family working, and according to
general procedure following in other sections, she would have had to
take the employment cut Ffirst. But she ms excluded from definitely
having to be discharged because this condition was not stated by
Haw mgs* Another condition, however, served to include Mrse Sato
in the cut, although she was in the same position as Mrs. Kawasaki*
This condition stated that only one worker per family was to be re-
tained. Finally Taniguchi*s position as foreman was assured, and he
was given nfull authority in cooperation with Mr. Hara" to select tbe
workers to be retained. Since Sato had been actively superaising the

workers of the Pickling Plant, he should have received instructions
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from Rawlings to carry out the employment cut. This bypassiag was
an infraction of general organizational procedure. That all of these
conditions stacked up against Sato and in favor of Taniguchi can hardly

be accidontaX*

Smploviaent 6ut Attempte Evidently Sato and the workers were
not aware of the seriousness of the rasult of the conference* Sato
was xmder the impression that he and Taniguchi were to decide who
were to be tarminated. A few days before the end of the mouth, however,
Taniguchi appeared at the Plant with the statement that he had been
given authority by Rawlings to determine who was to be discharged*
Relationship between Taniguchi and racst of the workers had not been
too smooth, and this announcement caused direct arrtagonisia toward
him. According to the instractioh he received, his rivals, Kogita
and Kano, were to be discharged first, since they were in charge of
experimental work* Mrs* Sato was also on the list of ones to be dis-
charged, while Mrs. Kawasaki waa not placed on the list. The workers
showed antagonism toward Taniguchi and fear that they would be dis-
charged unfairly. Grounds for complaint included Taniguehl®s usur-
pation of Sato*s position, and signs of favoritisa toward those who
had sided with hiia»-especially Mrs* Kawasakit and ezuaity toward those

close to Sato- Kogita, Kano, Mrs* Sato*
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Workers* Petition. The workers, under the leadership of Kogita
and Kano, appealed to Sato, their supervisor, for help* After dis-
cussi.on It ws.s docxddd a, pd*bct«jlon should bO signed by "the workers
to ask Taailguchi to resign. It was fslt necessary to carry out this
plan before the employraejit out was placed into effect* Sato sat up
on the night of February 28 to write the petition, and called upon his
neighbor, Sakoda, for help in the wording, since his own English
was poor. The petition,l which was written in English, asked that
Taniguchi resign for the following reasons:

1 . Taniguchi has no technical knowledge or skill in Pickling

vegetables*

2 He has little ability as foroaian and an"fcagoni.zss the workerse
wHe has also become very officious in his attitude toward
ua.w

3* We are satisfied with Mr. Sato*

4* e are not presentingpetition because one of us sh
to replace Mr. Taniguchi as foreman— we do not wish that.*1

5. The pdti“tion is the will of the iagjority of the workers*

For soiae reason or other Sato chose not to tsention the real
issue involved in the workers asking for a resignation. Sakoda, also,
did not know *hat sort of individual Taniguchi actually was, and in
the petition had esaployed the word "officious" to describe him, having
Mrs. Harafs behavior in mind. The statement that none of the workers
wanted to replace Taaiguchi was also an idea added by Sakoda, and it
was not until a few days later that Kano disclosed a desire to becoaie

the foreman in Taniguchi*s place. Sato, however, was satisfied not

1 .3 2/25/44 #5
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to have a foreman at all even if Taniguchi were displaced, and did net
feel that Kano was the right man for the position*

The morning of the 29th, the day on which the employment cut was
supposed to take place, was a busy one for the workers at the pickling
plant. Mrs* Sato took the petition to the plant, and had each worker
come in to the office there to sign the petition* The workers came
in and signed the petition without even kno?/ing what was on it— their
understanding ms that the petition would be worded property for
then to sign* All of "the workers who word asked to sign the petition
did so readily. There was no mistake that the majority of the workers
were anxious to have Taniguchi removed. The workers who were not
asked to sign the petition, for fear that Taniguchi would get wind of
what they were attempting, wer® Mrs, Hara, Mrs. Kawasaki, and one
other lady whose loyalties were not definitely known. The expec-
tations of the workers at that time was that Taniguchi would resign
as soon as such a petition was signed.

For several days, however, Rawlings was absent froa the project,
and no action was taken on either the employiaent cut or the petition*
Kano was supposed to have met with S* Hara and to have used his in-
fXuencd "t g0t H&ra.1»0 suppojrt Saixo« Kano is claisidd *t hav© assured
Sato of Harafs support siaca he owed him some money. For this or
other reasons he aeeas to have felt that he was entitled to the po-
sition of foreman. Taniguchi learnsd of the petition, and was groatly
angered by it. He declared that the workers had signed the petition
without reading it, pointing out to the line describing him as

"officious*** He called the workers who had signed the petition
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tog8ther and asked each one whether he had read the petition before

he signed it. He also decXared that he was going take the petition
to Kenji Ito and sue each one who signed it. He was not "officious,?
he insisted* The women workers, especially, were in a state of fear*
IT each one had been attacked separately, as Kogita later explained,
they might have confessed that they hadnft read th© petition* One
male worker, however, brushed aside Taniguchi®s complaint by saying
that as long as they signed the petition it was understood that they
knew what was in it, and Taniguchi iras successfully repulsed* However,
in order to satisfy the workers, Sakoda was asked to prepare a hasty
Japanese translation of the petition.

Both Davidson and Rawlings returned froia a conference by the
first of March, and discussion of the labor conflict in the Pickling
Plant was taken up by the administration. On March 4 Sato presented
the workers* case to Minnesang, th© Personnel Officer. He is said
to h”™ve decXared that the petition was legitimate on® and that under
the circumstances, Taniguchi’s resignation ould have to be considered.
The workers* advantage seeaed to be their agreement that they did not
want Taniguchi as their foreman.

Rawlings was not ready to give in so easily. He attacked Sato
dud rdfusdd "to considor ri30712xg Taniguchi.* He accused 3a'to of having
instigated the signing of the petition. One basis for this belief
was the fact that none of the workers were able to write such a pe-
tition in SagXish* Ano”™h@r was Taniguchi*s conteu*fcion that the workers
did not know what they had signed. Rawlings is said to have told
Taniguchi to stay on "the job bocauss h© would retain hiis even if he

had to close down the plant and give hi® the right to hire whoiaever
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he pleased* Consequently, Taniguchi refused to consider quitting his
job, saying that he could not quit until he received permission from
Bawiiagse

On March 4, a meeting was held among Millert Acting Project
Director in Stafford*s absence, Minnegang, Davidson, and Rawlings,
to discuss the pickling plant trouble. What decision was reached
at this meeting is not known} but judging from the results it was
mostly against Sato. Rawlings insisted on maintaining Taniguchi,
and Minnesang was willing to compromise by allowing han to remain in
the Pickling Plant as an ordinary worker. Taniguchi*s position, there-
fore, was strongly defended from the administration side. On the
other hand, Sato*s competence as a supervisor was greatly questioned,
and a number of accusations made against hjUa was later investigated*
Also, nothing was done to prevent Rawlings from taking drastic measures
such as closing down the plant, in order to force his will on the
workers*

On M.arch 7 Sa/to went to see Hawlizxgs and was given the scare of
his life. He was asked a number of embarrassing questions by Rawlings
and accused of certain misdeeds. Probably the question which scared
Sato the most was '‘the eme asking which country he wanted to win the
war. Sato replied that since he was an American citizen he wanted
America to win. Rawlings then came out and told him that he had heard
that his talk in the Plant did not indicate this. Sato waa also ac-
cused of getting someone to make use of his koii to make sake. He was
asked why he continued to raake miso when he had beea prohibited to

do so. Sato replied that he had to coaplete sufficient quantity to



send out some to all of the messhaXXs and to use up what material hO
had on hand* He also said that the experiment had been approved by
both Davidson and Sawlings himself. Sato was also accused of taking
food and material from the Plant, and Sato declared that he could shar
that all of the material that he requisitioned were still in the Plant.

Charges made against Sato wer®© investigated by Minnegang and
Hawiiags. No direct evidence, however, was found which required Sato
to give up his job, Rawlings evidently could not prove that Sato
had instigated the workers to sign the petition, since the workers
dsciarod "that Mrs* Sato had writton petition for Sato pro**
duced the requisition which allowed him material to experiment with
SiSSL* He also showed tha*t weight by weight, he could not be accused
of having stolen material to make also* Thera was no proof that he
had sold any kojx. sither* However, the adiaiiiis"trativ©O personnel con-
cerned did not seein to be kiiadly disposed toward him,

Petitioji to the Counnualty Councils In the mdantime the workers
carried on their dispute for a more equitable settlesaent of the om-
ployment cut than the one proposed by Taniguchi. Some reconsideratim
were won for the workers in this field.

In the meairfciiae the workers were becoming, anxious because Tani-
guchi refused to resign* After soaie consultation among themselves
and with some leaders in the project they decided to appeal the matter
to the Community Council. One person consulted in this matter ms
Kintaro Takeda, councilman, who sympathized with the workers against
Taniguchi and who thought that the Coannunity Ceuncil could be of help

to them. The active work for the workers was being don© by Kogita and

Kano. They felt that the workers®™ position could b© greatly strengthened
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by appealing to the residents as M whole for support and by denouncing
Taniguchi in front of them as a stooge of the administration. They

felt that in thi way it would be possible to bring so isuch pressure
E E N ]
’ [ | Iﬁ ]
tion was a step in this direction.
The petixxon to the council was written on Uarf® 7 by Kano and
seemed to eoibociy the views held by the workers on Sato*s side. In
it Taniguchi was denounced as having worked against the best interest
of the people and praised Sato for having upheld their welfare. A

rough translation of the petition follows:

This Picklaag Plant was functioning smoothly with
Mr. Sato as supervisor, and Overydne was working happily*
However, since Mr. Sato was also in charge of the Tofu
plant, Mr, Taniguchi, who was seX@cted as foreman, was
sent daily to the administration building* There he gained
opportunity to talk with Caucasian workers, especially
Rawlings, and it natural that he gained some confidence
from than. He took advantage of this opportunity, however,
We had planned to expand the plant and the raiso we had
wanted had already passed its experimental stage and was
about to enter its final stages of production. With
material and some unddrstanding it would have been a
simple matter to start mass production. Miso, needless
to say, is a food which is essential for our health and from
the standpoint of cost is very economical. All of the residents
had hoped to have this miao distributed to each raesshall, when
suddenly Taniguchi ordered the closing down of the miso
manufacture.

Also, in regards to the ©Onployment reduction he did
not consult Mr. Sato at all and used his own judgment to
suit his own convenience. He did not consider the wishes
of Mr. Sato or any of the other workers, and this resulted
in dissatisfaction on the part of the majority of the
workers. On February 29 they signed a petition and pre-
seated.it to Mre Rawlings and Mr* Sato and complained that
Mr. Taniguchi did not have the qualifications of a foreman,
WO thought that Mr. Taniguchi would resign at this point,
but he still comes to the Plant and remains with us. He
also tried to make the petition ineffective by calling
each worker out and asking him if he read it thoroughly and
understood what was written on it before he signed it and
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and threatened us ignorant workers by saying that he is
taking steps to sue each one with the help of Mr. Ito, the
lawyer. The women workers, especially, were frightened
ana could not do the work they were supposed to because

of the confused state in which they were forced.

In spite of the opposition of the majority of the
workers, Mr. Taniguchi has not given up his job, and the
reason for this seems to come from Mr. Rawlings* Of
course, Mr. Taniguchi is the sort of person who is glad
to carry out any order of a Caucasian. On the other hand,
Mr. Sato desired to comfort us Japanese who were suffering
insiae barbed-wire fenees by providing us with delicious
tsukemono and aisjo. For this purpose he opposed Mr. Rawlings
and the relationship between Mr. Rawlings and Mr. Sato was
not very friendly. Mr. Taniguchi, however, naturally re-
ceived some confidence from Rawlings, but even though

M r. Sato was the supervisor from the very beginning, Mr.
Taniguchi tried to take his position for himself. We can-
not stand to watch such a mean act.

Fortunately, Mr. Davidson, who is in an important
position here is a friend of Mr. Sato*s from San Francisco,
and when he was p”~smning to move to Colorado, Mr. Davidson
sent a telegram and asked him to come to this center to
work in the cannery and the tsukemono plant, showing the
trust he has in Mr. Sato. Hoping that Mr* Davidson will
retain Mr. Sato in his present position and work for the
best interest of the Japanese residents, we are presenting
this petition and asking for your judgment on the matter.

Supporter of Mr. Sato

March 1, 1944
Community Council”

Developmenta

March 8. Before presenting the petition to the Coiaiaunity Council,

however, the workers thought it would b® best to try once more to

force Taniguchi to quit. A delegation of workers, probably lead by

1*
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Kogita and Kano, visited Taniguchi and told him to quit, Taniguchi
refused flatly*

After leaving Taniguchi, Kano is said to have thought up of a
plan of his own, which he discussed with Kogita, Kogita did not like
his plan, whatever it was, and was even ashamed of revealing it. This
seemed to confirm a suspicion that was held by Sato, Sakoda, and Takeda
that Kano was not the sort of man to be trusted, and that he wanted
power for himself, and that h© ms not above-board in his dealings,

A turn of events, however, made It unnecessary to carry out Kano*s
plan.

& aelegation of workers went to see Kamaya and Hara, and accused
them of meddling in this matter. They denied that they had anything
to do with the conflict, and in turn were warned to watch thoir steps.
They seemed to have been frightened by the antagonism of the workers,
and urged them to oust Taniguchi, This was hailed as a victory by the
workers, and gave them hope of winning the fight against their fore-
man* They were still waiting for word from the administration building
for the final solution of the conflict, and they expressed determina-
tion to oppose the administration if its solution was not just.

Sakoda, who was being kept informed of the general proceedings
of the conflict by Sato and Kogita, believed that it was best to settle
the matter quietly. One reason for this, he tought, was that if the
conflict were brought up in public Sato would be attacked by Rawlings,
in which case he would stand the chance of endangering his position*

HO "thought that "the best way to get Taniguchi to resign was to have
some influential person approach him, since this would help Maave his

face,* UPhen Sakoda heard that Taniguchi was an Episcopalian and a
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member of Father Joe*s church, he decided that Father Joe was the ri”it
person to go to. Sakoda had talked to Father Joe before and knew that
he was anxious to change project conditions to improve the welfare of
the residents. When Sakoda took this problem to Father Joe, the latter
recognized the a~ward position Taniguchi would be placed in if the
petition were sent to the Council. He said that Taniguchi was not

the sort of a person who would be an inu. but that he was a one-track
minded individual and troublesome at times. He promised to see what
he could do to have Taniguchi withdraw from the conflict, and if pos-
sible relocate him somewhere. On the other hand, he wanted to have
Sakoda prevent the petition from reaching the Council.

Father Joe did not vrant to broach the matter to Taniguchi him-
self, and thought of a close friend of Taniguchi's who inight be asked
to approach him. This person, however, turned down Father J e*s re-
quest, and Father Joe then approached Taniguchi's son-ia-law, who would
b© unnecessarily hurt if Taniguchi were denounced in public as an inu.
He recognized that the son-in-law would not be very effective in
bringing pressure to bear upon a stubborn father-in-law. Sato and
Kogita were advised by Sakoda to contact Father J e, and after talking
?/ith him, they agreed to withhold the petition for a little while,

March 9« As expected Taniguchi's son-in-law failed to persuade

his father-in-law to quit his job. Father Joe then had an influential

1 . J 3/8/44 #1
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church member, Mr* Uchida and Dr. Shigaya, councilman, approach Tani-
guchi. It is not known two the two men said to the foreman, but it

is "thouglrt tha/t the nia*tiler was brought up in such way as not "to hurt

his feelings* At any rate, he agreed "to withdraw froni th© Pickling
Plant. The workers, at least, were under this impression*

Hawlings in the meantim®© called Taniguchi and asked hira, it is
said, whether he would reopen the Plant as foreman, if he could close
it down once. Taniguchi refused to do this. Rawlings then issued
a memo closing down the plant until project vegetables were available,
The memo was addressed to Sato and read:

Surplus project produced vegetables will not be available
for pi.ck3xig frois now uniiiX X944 crops ars r@sidy "to harvost#
It has been decided, therefore, to close the pbkling plant
until about June 3 and all workers including foreman and
supervisor will be tenainated and made available for transfer
on or before March 11* Al workers should be advised im-
mediately so that they may look for other employment*

All unprocessed m aterials such as rice, soybeans, etc. will
be returned to the Mess Division at once and properly credited
to Industry on Form 1RA-21X. All inigo, koji, etc. will al3
be delivered to Mess Division on th© same schedule of three
times a week as at present until all is delivered.

At the close of work on March 11 please give me an inventory
of the pickles that may be still in process but not delivered
to Mess Division and turn in all keys to the plant.

CG: Personnel Section
Davidson
Wilder
Taniguchi
Haran

1 . J 3/9/744 #3
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In other words, Taniguchi*s resignation had come too late.
Rawlings, in order to settle the problem in his own way, chose to
3top the production of tsukeaiono. He isas probably not unaware that
this was a high-handed way of dealing with a problem and that the
closing of the Plant ignored the best welfare of the residents. HO
had shown that he objected not so much to the workers and he did to
Sato, and the workers seemed to be suffering the consequence. The

workers were greatly infitriated by Taniguchi*s having caused them so

much trouble, and said to be detemained to make Taniguchi pay for tha.

losing their jobs. They discussed the possibility of circulating a
petition within the project to gain the support of the public against
Taniguchi. Sato, however, frowned upon such a step, since he knew
that he would be accused of having started such a petition*

Mrs* Hara was reported as having been iiappy to hear that the
Plant had been closed, and was quoted as having said that this was
due to the Grace of God, The workers were indignant to hear this.

n the meantime the petition had been sent to the Council, and

r-

the subject was brought up for discussion at a Council sieetiag. Takeda

championed the cause of the workers, and asked that as long as the
Fair L&bor Board had not b@6ii chos@n as he be 8.1Xow6d "to handle
the matter, since it had been brought to his attention already. Dr*
Shigays* got up and said "that "the Piairt was closed "today, and "tha/t

"this nja/tlier should be considered closed. 1 Takeda maintained that

the saatter could not be considered closed. The Council decided to
have the inatter clarified by the adsainistration before they took any

steps,”™-
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tfe-rch 10, This was the next to the last day of work for the
workers of the Pickling Plant. Sa"to had been Folsom and Minnesang
and had arranged for workers actually to be terminated after the 15th
so "that "they would be able "to get clothing allowancee This requ”est
was allowed him.

Taniguchi, «ho had promised to withdraw from the Pickling Plant
1 hed connni'ttdd one final piece of treachery before he disappeared
from the scene entirely. In the morning some time sheets, which
Sato had signed in advance, were missing* Later Karaaya, representing
Rawlings, came to tell Mrs* Sato that Rawlings dida*t want Sato to
sign time sheets in advance. Obviously somepersonhad taken the
time sheets from the desk and had taken them tothe administration
building. Taniguchi had done this, it was learned. Sato defended
himself by saying that he wanted to give the workers full pay whether
they worked full time or not-*after all they were not receiving very
much. He knew that according to regulations he should not sign time
sheets in advance, but he did not think that hehad committed a
serious crime. The workers were infuriated with Taniguchi*s inv
conduct. The only good motive for Taniguchi*s act seemed to be to
furnish Rawlings with evidence with which to discharge Sato. At-
tempts were made later, at any rate, to return the workers to the
Plant without their supervisor*

Sato consulted Father Joe to ask what step he should now tak«#
The latter advised him to stay out of the Pickling Plant and to
change to soiae other job, if possible* Takeda also expressed the
opinion that Sato should not take any more steps to regain control of

the pickling plant if he did not want to be placed on the black
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March 1 1 . The Pickling Plant was to be closed at the end of
the day. Taniguchi did not appear at the Plant any more. From the
administration building Kamaya, farm supervisor, came to get the keys
to the Plant. Several of the men were present, and Kamaya talked
to them, as if in sympathy with them. Sato had gone out to the
hospital to get a flask, and ran into Dr. Shigaya. He demanded why
the doctor had made it difficult for him by saying that both he and
Taniguchi were at fault. Dr. Shigaya defended himself, and divulged
*fche infonaation that it was Kuiaaya hiiaseif who had goae "to the Ad-
siinistration BuiXdxng wi*th the 'tims shoo't. Ssito Qams back and con-
fronted Kamaya with this bit of intrigue. Kaniaya admitted that he had
taken the time sheets from Taniguchi and had taken it to the Cau-
casians, although he maintained strongly that it was not his fault,
because he did it only at Taniguchi*s request. He was attacked by
workers and accused of beiag an inu. Kamaya finally broke down and
apologized for what he had done. The workers said later that it felt
good to hear him apologize. He ims warned not to have anything fur-
ther to do with the Pickling Plant, especially not to take it over*
Kaaiaya. s”™ood around for a li.'t'tXo while, telling "the 2@n how he pulldd
soma fast ones on the ke~tos« This was probably his way of identifying
himself with "the workers anti a'fc'teni|)"tiBLg "to wipe out tiie stigroa of
being an inu.

Since Kamaya had been caught in an awkv/ard position, Sa*to was

still hop©ful that "the pla.ut would not be clossd. As he saw laatiiQrs,

Rawlings wanted some concrete evidence com the basis of which he could

discharge Sato and the whole crew. Thus far he hadn*t sufficient
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evidence to do this. Taniguchi had told him a great many things
about Sato and others' but could not bring in definite evidence to
prove this* The time sheets were supposed to serve as evidence
needed by Rawlings* Also, Kejaaya had been asked by Rawlings to
take over the pickling plant after it was closed, since there was
a considerable volume ot tsukemono which were being preserved which
would have to be taken care of and distributed to the messhalls*
Being caught in an awkward position, Karaaya had now found it dif-
ficult to take over the pcikling plant without being considered an
inu of the administration by the workers. He had also asked which bar
rel of tsukemono should go out first, and the workers would not tell
him which barrii would be ready first, but told him that he'd have
to figure that out for himself. This meant that it was necessary to
rehire the same crew to do a decent job of even cleaning up what
was left in the plant. Sato’s only worry now was that the workers
would go back to v/ork v/ithout

March . March 12 was Sunday. On Monday evening Karaaya ap-
proached Tsujika~/a and told him that all the workers were asked to
return on the former basis. Taniguchi was not mentioned at all, and
the workers presumed that he was not going to come back. The workers
were worried, and consulted Takeda as "to the advisability of returning
to work, since they did not want to hinder the negotiations of the
Council. Takeda told them that they should go back to work or they
might lose their j.obs entirelye Kogi*fca and Kano cam© to Sato with

this news, and they all rejoiced* The workers were glad to be able
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to go back to work. Sorae workers wondered whether Mrs. Hara would
come back to work, sjad they said that if she did, they would snub
her because she was a "bow-wow*

The workers differed in their surmise as to why they were asked
to eome back to work. Someth®nght that it was mainly due to Takeda”
effort. He had been to see Davidson, and probably convinced him of
the advisability of having the old crew take care of the remaining
tsukemono* Sato, on the other hand, thought that his having caught
Karaaya in the act of helping Taniguchi to MtoogeM on hiia was res-
ponsible for the good turn €f event. The idea of going back to work,
however, was probably detrimental to the Sato workers unity, when it
became known that Sato was not asked to return to work*

March 14. This was a day of confusion. The workers were anxioie
to go back to work, and did appear at the plant. Sato, however,
maintained that he could not return to work without a definite memo
from Rawlings asking him to corae back to work. Kamaya came to the
Plant and began to take down the names of the workers. The workers
suspected that they were being transferred to Kainaya”™ section, and
protested against it, saying that they did not want to go back to
work unless Sato was their supervisor. They asked for a full clari-
fication of their status before they returned to work. Nothing
1Bre was learned that day*

The Pickling Plant Conflict was brought up once again in the

Council Meeting. Sato and some of the workers were present* Sato
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asked Sakoda to coiae and explain the matter more fully to the Council,
but he refused on the ground that he was not officially involved in
the matter. He had feared all along that he would be mistaken for
an agitator or a pressure group, and for this reason took care to keep
out of signt as much as possible. Takeda explained that he had gone
to see Davidson on the matter, and a memo from the Council was asked
for* Evidently, Davidson did not want to touch the problem without
having a good reason for doing so. Fujii and Takeda wrote a memo asking
why the Pickling Plant was to be closed. Takeda said that he intended
to pick faults with the reply sent by Bavidson. When he learned that
210 o fficial memo had been sent to the workers by either Davidson
or Rawlings, he concluded that Rawlings had feared action on the
part of the Council, and had gotten Kasiaya to open the Plant again.
Most of the councilmen besides Fujii, Takeda, and Shigaya did not
know much about the problem in which Sato was involved. Both Fujii
and Takeda favored Sato*s return to work as supervisor of the Pickling
Plant. Dr, Shigaya was opposed to him. Sato attempted to explain
why he could not go back to work without an official memo from the
administration. He declared that he was not going to go crawling to
Rawlings for a job. The Council decided that Sato should write a
emo to Rawlixigs to have the matter of their return to work clarified.
This Sal;o dide Tlie Council was "to wsiili for offici.8.X word from Davidson
before taking action. Fjuii was scheduled to meet with Stafford as
soon as he returned to the project from Washington.
In the evening Sato and Saleoda went to consult Takeda about
future action, and Kogita came for the same purpose later. The

four discussed the matter, and came to the conclusion that the matter
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should be left up to the Council, Takeda seemed to have high hopes
that he v;ould be able to handle this matter successfully. Ckie as-
sumption that was made at this time was that the workers would not
go back to work without Sato, and they seemed to be willing to sup-
port their supervisor.. Takeda warned that Kano was the type of

person who probably wanted to b© the foreman and would require careful

March As the result of the developments on this day Sato*s
status as supervisor took a downward plunge. The Council, on whom
Sato had relied, received a memo from Davidson stating that he had
turned the matter of the pcikling plant over to Miller. Davidson,
in other words, refused to support Sato actively. Miller sent a
memo stating that the pickling plant was to be closed down for lack
of vegetables. M iller chose to uphold Rawlings* drastic step of
closing the plant to settle the conflict. Fuji! and Takeda wrote a
memo to M iller stating that if the plant were to be closed it should
remain closed. If it were to be opened, the old crew should be em-
ployed again. Their protection of Sato and the workers, in other
woris, took the form of a negative requeste

Rawlings clarified his stand to Sato by sending hira a memo, in
reply to a question that Sato had put to him that the pickling plant
was to be closed on this day as announced before "until new crops
are ready to process and all your workers will be terminated and made

available for transfer today,I®

1 . J 3/15/744 #6



Rawlings sent Kamaya to contact the workers* According to Kamaya
the workers had the alternative of transfering to his section and
returning to the Pickling Plant or of not having a job at all. I f
they transferred to his section, he would be in charge of the Pickling
Plant until the tsukemono were all disposed of. If they refused to
transfer to his section only three persons v/ould be allowed to work
in the Pickling Plant. In either case, he announced, the administra-
tion had decided not to retain Sato as supervisor* One reason for
this step, as Kamaya explained it to the workers, was that it was
necessary to save Taniguchi*s fac© in some v;ay* Rawlings had written
out a termination for all of the workers, Kamaya said, and all workers
who did not report to work b y afternoon that day, would be terminated.
In other words, the workers were asked to obey and transfer to Kamaya's
section, which meant abandoning Sato as supervisor, or to be terminated*

The workers were asked to make a difficult decision. The two
leaders, Kogita and Kano, at this point came to the parting of ways.
Kano had employed his influence to get the job of Packing Shed Formal

he
from Kamaya for the coming year. Until this time/had been supporting
Sato actively, but turned sharply against him at this juncture. What
was not generally known at this time, but which became evident later,
was that Kano had an understanding with Kamaya to be placed as unof-
ficial supervisor of the Pickling Plant after the workers came back
to work wlthou*t Sato« This decision "to turn against Sato was undoubtedly
influenced by "fd© fact 'fcha't SE*to had shown r@lucta.nc6 *to employ Kano
as foreman even if Taniguchi were ousted* Kano had been anxious to
displace Taniguchi; now he worked "foo divorce "the workers from

He campaigned among the workers to return to work without Sato.
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n the other hand, Kogita was more true to Sato than Kano.
Kogita cam© to him to ask what should be done. Sato said that it
was all up to the workers, but he hinted that the workers should sign
a petition showing that they did not want to v/ork under anybody else

but him. HOtried to point out to Kogita that the ketos were attempting

to break the nstrike*’ by "buying out** the workers* Kogita said that
he wanted to ask the advice of the Council, too* Sakoda *©Ild him that
this should be done because the matter affected the whole community
and not just the workers. He said, however, the decision to go back
to work or not had to be aiade by the workers. When Kogita consulted
Takeda, the latter told him that the workers had to wmake up their
minds" (h”~ra o kimery) s fakeda could not assure him that if the
workers did not go back to work all would be well later. He could
neither promise the workers any definite result if they refused to

go back to work, nor did he urge them not to return to work, Kogita's
position, consequently, was made very difficult because/did not

think it was right to go back to work without Sato, but still he did
not have strong arguments to back up this stand.

In the afternoon all of the workers, except the three who were
on Taniguchi*s side, were rounded up for a meeting. The leaders
seemed to be Kano, Kogita, and Tsujikawa. According to Kogita*s
account most of the workers were anxious to go back to work without
Sato. Tsujikawa seemed to have expressed the majority opinion when
he declared that if it were no longer possible to save Sato as the
Supervisor, then the noxt best thing was for the workers to save
themselves. Certain workers-probably including Kano-expressed out-

right antagonism. One of them stated that Sato should be thogghtful
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enough to tell the workers not to think about him but to go back to
work without him* Sato was considered as having endangered "fehe
security of the workers in order to save his own job. Kogita said
that even if he had good arguments for the workers not to go back to
work, he could have won over only half of the workers to Sato*s side.
He had very little to say, and three-fourths of the workers were in-
fluenced by Kano, He himself could not transfer because of what he
owed Sato, he declared to the other workers. was then told, pro-
bably by Kano, that it would do him little good to leave a record

of having opposed the administration. It migirfc have effect on his
future employment on the project and his ability to leave the pro-
ject. Because of this threat Kogita finally consented to have his
name included among the nine to return to work. The only worker who
was asked to return to work and refused was Mrs* Sato, who declared
that she would not return to work without her husband and that she
didn*t want to work for Rawlings, anyway. She did not know how to
tell the workers that they were doing the wrong thing by returning

to work without her husband. That evening the nasses of the nine wil-
ling to transfer to Kamaya*s section were relayed to hisi*

When Sato heard that the workers had gone back to work, he ms
indignant; they had let him down. He said that there wasn*t a brain
in the whole crew, and until now he had to tell them how matters
stood and what they should do. They didn*t see that the keto was
trying to crush the Japanese by buying out the workers. The same
thing, he said, had happened at the time of the boierinen strike.

The workers, he said, had allowed themselves to be taken in by the
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scheme of the keto and their Japanese stooges like Hara and ICaraaya*
Mrs* Sato said that if she knew what it was all about she would have
told the workers not to return to work. Sato blamed Kogita for not
conveying his point of view to the workers. Sato "m.8 especially in-
dignant toward Kano whom he considered to have doublecrossed him.

When Taniguchi was trying to discharge him and Kogita, Sato had helped
t"em oust Taniguchi, but Kano used his influence against him.

The workers still retained their antagonissi toward Taniguchit
their former foreman. Some of theia were saying that he kept & strange
sleeping arrangement with the two orphans. The girl, about 16, slept
closer to him than the boy, who slept in the cornert They w®©ren*t
surprised, they said, if Taniguchi made an "omocha** (plaything) of the
girl= She had been raised in Japan and probably would not refuse a
man to whom she owed her care* Some of the workers, including Taui-
jikawa, were wondering how they could get back at Kamaya and Hara*»

March Ib« This was a day when Kogita made some atteispt to cor-
rect the ste|) taken by the workers. He came to see Sato to bring
him Rawlings* m«ao of February 19 which ordered .reduction of the
number of workers in the Pickling Plant until vegetable grown on the
project were uiade available. In other words, Rawlings could be accused
of having close the plant only to solve the labor difficulty. That
this was true was somehow substantiated by a memo issued by the
Steward Division to all the kitchens. It stated:

"Kindly use nappa for tsukemono. Tsukemono

factory has been discontinued”™*”"

Sato was glad to have Rawlings* memo because he had something with

which to attack Rawlings.
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Kogita apologized to Sato, saying that he really could not show
his face to Sato, after what the workers had done. Kogita explained
that the workers decided to go back to work because the Council had
not given them the assurance that it was worthwhile to refuse to x*
turn to work« Sato shouted at Kogita* They were too ignorant to know
what was really ahppening to them, he saide The workers would be
transferred to Kainaya's section and then be made to work in the
Pickling Plaint, even though they didn*t intend to touch it at this
point. (Svidently the understanding of the workers was that they
were to be transferred to the fana division and not work in the
Pickling Plant.) They were promised work, Sato said, but the
ployraent cut was going to take place regardless, and Kogita would be
accused of falsely promising them work* He also demanded to know
what the workers were fighting for in the first place. They were
the ones wlo were to be discharged at that time, and not he. He
himself could have played safe and let them be discharged if he
wished. He declared that the workers were not in a position to
talk about saving their own neck,

Kogita was bewildered* He could not make too much sense of the
incoherent shouting done by Sato. He seemed to resent being called
names, but he tried to attempt an explanation of his own position.
He wanted to know”~hy Sato hadn*t come to him and told him how he
felt about the whole matter, because he was sure that he could still
move the workers if he told them that Sato felt the way he did. He
said that it wasn*t too late yet, and he would try to do what he

could for Sato* He couldn*t understand what the real problem was
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and could only ask the opinion of important people* And yesterday
Takeda had not given him much assurance that there was a chance for
winning a fight against Rawlings,

Kogita ¥/aated Sato or Sakoda to come with him to explain the real
situation to the workers. Both refused to go with him, but attempted
to clarify his thoughts for him. Attempts to explain the situation
in abstract terras failed. He was finally made to understand that if
the workers weirfc back to work the fight of the Council would be lost.
Also it was made clear that if the workers touched the Pickling Plant
they were back-stabbing Sato.. Kogita took Rawlings* memo and went
1to see Takeda* Takeda assured Kogita that the Rawlings memo made a
great de&l of difference* This gave Kogita more courage to carry on
the fight. The workers were instructed not to report for work until
m atters were clarified through the Council*

K gita met Kaiaaya and was asked whether all of the workers had
reported to work, Kogita replied that he was so confused that he
could not give him a clear answer right away, but he would be able
to soon. Kamaya seemed anxious to have the workers transfer to his
department* He mumbled that this was the best way because the matter
of the koji, was involved. This matter, according to Kogita, meant
that Sato and the workers would be accused of having sold ko.li after
making it secretly. Kamaya undoubtedly was referring to the report
that Sato in Block 12 was selling kojj privately*

Sato in the meantime went to consult Ken Yamada, a former CIO
organizer of the restaurant workers in Seattle. He was a young Issei,
with a wife and two children. He was a block commissioner from his
block, and on© of the tmewMleaders of the aommunity and an active

one. His interpretation of the Pickling Plant Conflict indicated



his general outlook of community problems* He was definitely against
the wldMtype of leadership represented by Seiichi Hara.

Ken looked at the Rawlings* memo. He thought that Dick
had a good case, and thought that he should fight it

out by all means. For this purpose he thought that the
workers should not go back to work at present. He did not
see how Rawlings could close down "the.Plant without more
definite word from above or a conference with those con-
cerned* He recognized the danger in letting him do as

he wished in this situation. He also saw the fight as
one against Hara. He said that Davidson and others
still rdied a great deal on Hara. They were still

thinking in terms of having a figurehead council

and of getting Hara to run things. Although Hara was

only in a minor position, he thought that Hara still re-

tained a great deal of his former power. This problem was

a. fight between the Council and Hara, he thought. He

said that he did not want to see Hara run things the way

he wanted around here. He pointed out that in the memo

Hara had been asked to see who would be terminated along

with Taniguchi, azxd thought that it would be a good idea

to ask why Hara was involved in the Pickling Plant, when he

was only the accountant.™*

This seems to have cleared up Sato*s thinking to some extent*
Kogita heard the latter part of the conversation, and seemed to be
assured that he was going the right thing by staying with Sato. He
reported that Fuji! had gone to see Stafford in the morning and that
Takeda would stop in to report what had happened. Kogita, however,
did not show up. In the afternoon Kogita and Takeda were still miting
for Fujii to come back with some sort of report from Stafford, but
by suppertime they had not returned. |In the evening Kogita decided
to visit Fujii to hear the decision handed down from Stafford, He

wanted to take Sato or Sakoda along, but both refused to do so.

Sakoda declined on the ground that he w”s not directly involved in

1. J 3/16/44 #1
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the matter* Sakoda suggested Tsujikawa, but Kogita said that he could
not very well ignore Kano now. Sato ordered hiia to go alone, and he
finally dide

Late at night Sato was seen rushing out of his ftpartmentt saying
that he had news from a "reliable source'™ that all workers were ter-
minated with the exception of Kogita and Kano* He must have found
out that he was mistaken, for he came back and said little about it.
However, he felt that he could trust Kogita, but not Kano*"

March 17. The transfer of the workers was halted temporarily
to give the Council an opportunity to carry out its negotiations with
the administration. Sato*s fat© hung in balance: <could he be separated
from his workers and from his position as supervisor of the Picklii®™

Plant without sufficient evidence to discharge him through proper
channels? Was the Council sufficiently powerful to reach a favorable
settl«n©nt for Satot This was the first Bajor probleia that the
Council had to deal with. Ta”eda was confident that the Councilwas
favorable to Sato but negotiations with the administration had to
b© left up to Fujii and G* Mihara. On this day it was learned that
as the result of negotiations with Stafford, a conference of the
Japanese involved would be held to settle the matter*

What had actually transpired between the representatives of the
Council and Stafford was not kwoigdii. As a result of this conference,
however, a decision was reached for the Japanese concerned to meet
on March 18 to iron out difficulties. It ms as if Stafford had
thrown back the problem to the Council and instructed it to settle the
matter among th®aselves* In the meantime the workers postponed their

decision to go back to work*



Takeda stopped in to inform Sakoda and Sato of the result of the
negotiations. He warned that Kano had to be watched carefully* He
was going around asking the workers to go back to work. Kogita, he
saiG, was an honest sucker, taking everything seriously.

K™maya is said to have claimed that he did not want to be mixed
up in this affair in the first place, and seemed to fear bedoffling in-
volved in the final showdown. He was scheduled to attend the conference*

Sato and Kogita went to see Fujii* The latter urged Sato to
transfer to Kamaya's section along with the rest of the workers. Fujii
did not swerve from this basic stand, and it is possible that he had
reached an agreement with Stafford on this point already. Sato*s
report of Fujii was unfavorable. Sato*s desire was to hold out against
Rawlings until the whole crew were allowed to return to the Pickling
Plant under former conditions. When Sato protested against F«iii#s
request, the latter said, according to Sato,that he didn't have enough
evidence to carry on the fight to that point and that he had to think
of nis own position, too# Sato was in favor of continuing a protest,

lile Fujii desired a compromise

March 18« _Gonference* The meeting of the Pickling Plant workers,
representatives of the Farm Division, and the Community Council was
held on March 18 in the Council chamber. Those attending the con-
ference were:

Councilnien: Y* Fujii, K. Takeda

Workers: S. Kano, Y, Kogita, T* Taue, C* Kosai, T. Tsujlkawa.

Farm Division; S. Hara, G. Kamaya

1 . J 3/17/744 #1
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Taniguohi and Sato failed to appear* St Hara and G, Kamaya were at

great disadvantage even in terms of sheer number, since both the

the support of the community against a Japanese who favored the admin-
istration more than the residents* S. Kara was one of the most hated
men on the project and generally considered a Hstooge" and Kamaya
had put himself into an awkward position by having tried to take over
the Pickling Plant and to eliminate Sato, The attack of the workers
was hurled in all directions* Takeda, on the other hand, attacked
the vulnerable spot in Hara and Kamayafs defense* Fujii acted as
secretary and did not say very much Through this conference an oppos-
tunity was raade for Sato to return to the Pickling Plant#

Tsujikawa and Tsue launched the workers' point of view by stressing

The major attack, however, was made by Takeda.

that tsukeinono was a food in great demand by the residents*/ He stated
that there was some "niisunderstanding® about the position of the farm
division representatives in the issue, which he believed was unfortunate
for them both* Representing the voice of the people, he wanted to
ask a few questions to clear up these misunderstandings, since this
was the purpose of the meeting. He asked that the following points
be clarified:

A. What is Mr* Hara*s position?

B* fhat was the condition of the agreement made on February 19?

C* What was the general situation at the time the plant was to

be closed?
Hara*s reply was that he was not connected wi™h policy-making in

any way, but was only the office manager. He said:
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Smce my name was mentioned, | feel that should
clarify my position at this time. My positinn is merely
an office manager, and it is my duty to iafce care of all

office docuiaeirts* Howeverf sig hot connected in any way

with Policy making*

He also explained 'that his name appeared on all docuxaezi'ts be*
cause one copy was always sent to hiia for filing*

Kamaya*s explanation was more involved. He said:

X also would like to clarify ay position, and explain how

have been connected with this matterle | understand that the
main reason for the closing of the plant was shortage of vege-
tables, | was afcked by Mr Rawlings if | would manage my

crew to dispose of "Tsukemono** In view of the fact that
stsukemono* is a food demanded by the residents, it should
not be wasted in any way* For this rd&son | siiaply accepted
the propositipn of such disposal** When the agreedent was

made on February 19,1944, it was decided that the plant
operation should be continued on the new basis that workers

cut from twelve be effective March first till June 1 ,1944.
Furthermore, | was not sure if this supply of material was
a vailable to keep all workers busy in the plant. However, I

felt ~hat | could make some adjustment among the workers so
that if there should be a shortage of material] workers isay

be transferred to the farm in order to keep them.

It should b© noted that nothing was said of SatO0O*3 incoapotsnce*

Takeda then askod whether there was any understanding with Rawlings
o the effect that when the plant was reopened the workers would be
transferred to their former position* Kamaya answered that there wasnft
and that this was up to Rawlings. Tsue then followed up Takeda*s
lead and stated that the reasons for closing the plant were the shortage
of materials and labor disputes, according to M iller™ memorandum
(not Sato*s incompetence). Until the taukeiaone is all disposed of
experienced workers would be needed to take care of it. He recom-
mended strongly for Sato, since he had experience. He also referred
to a misunderstanding between Mr. Sato and Mr, Rawlizigs.

To this attack both Kamaya and Hara gave in by saying that they

were requesting Sato's transfer along with the rest of the workers.
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Kaaaya conceded that eaqgjerienced men should be employed, and that all

the workers, dneluding vaB6 being asked *to return to work* He

stated that he had no illw ill toward anyonee He was expecting that

Mr. Sato would be included in the list of the workers. Hara said:

I also a3ked that all workers be included in the list
to be presented, ana after noticing that Ur9 Sato was not
xucludod ia *i@ list, | askod "that *the Xis*t iucludd a.ll the
workers in order to make the list complete*

This vras clearly a victory for Sato, since the idea of terminating

him alone had to be abandoned. It is also possible that Hara desirod

that the three who sided with Taniguchi and were not asked to return

to work bs included along with the others*

The matter of ©raploymont cut was next iaken up. Both Tsujikawa

and Takeda asked questions on two points:

a* On what basis was the employment cut to take place?

b. Why was Taniguchi, rather than Sato, given the authority to

make the cut*

Tsujikawa also pointed out that Taniguchi had stated that the employ-

meat cut was made only after consulting himsif and Mr. Hara, but that

he was not so consulted. He thought that the labor dispute had been

caused by Mr. Taniguchi's unfair choice of workers to be discharged,

Hara replied that he had not been consulted by Taniguchi as to whom

were to be included ia the employment cut, but that he had only gone

to the employment office to get a list of the families to check up on

their family status. Why Sato had not been given the authority to make

the employment cut was not answered. Neither was a question as to

why Mrs. Sato was always placed on the list of those to take the cut,

vtien a family of three of whom all were working (Mrs. Kawasaki”)

was not listed*

Tsue then made a speech in favor of Sato and raconmiended that he



be reinstated* Takeda, however, changed this to a resolution to the
effect that in the event the plant was reopened all workers would
be reinstated in the plant. To understand this move on Takeda,s part
it is necessary to know what went on behind the scene. According to
Takeda*s account later, Fuji! had talked to Davidson» He was unwilling
to attack Rawlings, but neither was h© against Sato. In his conference
in Glia he had learned how much Japanese desired Tsukemono and had
made arrangements with the Washington representative at the conference
to traiisfer the Industry Section to the Steward Division. He ex-
pected a confirmation of this arrangement soon from Washington, and
when that arrived, he ms willing to make the transfer immediatelye
Takeda felt that it was best for Sato to go back to work on Kamaya*s
1 foenn as' an ordinary worker, and then be in a position to take over
as supervisor when the Plant was reopened* There was no opposition
to Takeda*s suggestion, and the group went on record with the following
resolution:
"Whereas it has been proved that experience, knowledge,
and ability are needed to make the pickling pleuit a sucassful
enterprise, we recommend that Mr. Sato be reinstated as super-
visor of the pickling plant, and all workers who have been
transfered to the farm division be reinstated at such time

\?hen the pickling plant reopenes.”

Hara and Kamaya were then asked to contact Rawlings and toak©

arrangements to reinstate Sato along with other workers.

The following understanding, then was reached at the conference.
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That all of the workers would transfer to the farm division
under Kamaya*

2* Tha*& Kaniaya would be rdcoguized. as the supervisor of the
Pickling Plant to dispose of the resaaining tsukeiaono.

3* That even though only five workers were to be retained in the
Pickling Plant according to orders from Rawling, Kamaya would
make arrangements so that all old workers of the Pickling Plant
could work there*

4. That when the Plant was reopened the old crew including Sato,
would be reinstated.

5* That no prejudice would be shown Sato,

6. That Hara and Kamaya would use their influence to have Sato
returned to the plant.

This, at least, was Takedafs version of the results of the conference*
The most controversial question was whether Hara and Kamaya would use
their influence to have Sato reinstated* Another was Sato*s position
in the Plant should he return to work* He would be an ordinary worker,
but the workers would have to work under someone's direction* Kamaya
indicated that h© would be too busy as a fans supervisory to have any-
thing to do with tbs plant. Kano, it seemed, had already assumed a
some hat superior air over the rest of the workers and perhaps had an
u derstanding with Kamaya that he would be the unofficial head of the
plant if the workers returned to work. If Sato returned to work, however
he would be supported by the workers as their supervisor. In fact,
Takeda's understanding was that if Sato returned to work he would, in

effect, be the supervisor. In effect, the agreement reached was
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that through devious means Rawlings* orders to close the plant and
terminate the workers would be sidestepped and all the workers re-
turned to their former positions until the remaining tsukemona was
disposed of. The only difficulty at this point was Kano's behavior*
And what of the three women whom none of the other workers desired
to have in their midstt

Takeda*s advice to Sato was that he should go back to work on
the terms agreed with Kamaya. |If he did not do this, the Council
would find it difficult to recomiaend him for supervisor when the
time came to reorganize the Plant under the Steward Division. He
also thought that Sato should refrain from experimental work wjiile
the Plant was under Rawlings* division**”"

March 20. Everything had been ironed out, presumably, for all
of the former workers of the Pickling Plant to go back to work under
Kamaya. On March 20, Monday, the workers who had signed up to return
to work r8pori»@d at "the Pickling Plant for work* Kano gave directions
and took over the functions of a supervisor. Kogita thought that
Kano had secretly gotten the privilege of being unofficial boss of
the Pickling Plant from Kamaya, although he already had the title
of Packing Shed foreman. When asked what Kano would do if Sato
returned *foo work, Kogita said that he thought Kano would withdraw
as the head*

Mrs. Hara never showed up for work, but Mrs. Kawasai and the
other lady who sided with Taniguchi came to the plant and begged to
be taken in with others. They even got into a quarrel with some

of the workers, but nobody paid lauch attention to theai. Kano is said
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to have told than that they could not b© employed in the Pickling
Plant because there were too many workers there already, but that if
they wished they could work in the fana division* They went to the
Ad Building to get an assignraeat, but failed, and after a few days
transferred to the Faria Division*

Two other persons who did not return to work were Sato and his
wife. Fujii aiid Takeda were anxious to have Sato return to work,
Takeda called on Sakoda to urgs his neighbor to return to the Plant
along with the others* Kogita also came and urged his supervisor to
com© back to work. Sato did show up at the Pickling Plarrt for a short
time, but caio© hoiae and stated tha*fc he would not return to work
unless someone arranged his transfer for him* He was not opposed to
the idea of returning t© work under the terms arranged by th© con-
fej*©iice* Buwfc as h© and his wife put i*t, wer© not going to go
crawling to Rawlings for a job. Kamaya is said "to have declared thal;
Sato would be placed on the payroll as soon aa he reported for work*

Kano, who was in charge of signing up workers who returned to work,

did not seea anxious to take steps to reinstate Sato, even aa an

5* Aft&r.math.__March 21« It seemed definite that Kano was blocking

Sato's reinstatement. According to K gita he told Kano that he should

get an assignoenii for Sato, but Kano was reluctant to act on this

immediately. Kogita suspected that Kano had some sort of arrangement
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with Kamaya and Hara hereby he was to refuse to reinstate Sato. Kogita
said that he could attack Kano, but had to tatch out for his own neck*
He didn*t care for his own neck, he said, but that if he didn*t watch
out and lost his job, he would not be able to see that justice was
done Sato. Kogita reported that all but one worker were siore for
Sato than Kano.

By those who dislike Kano the following story was told about him*
He came from the country to Tacoma, where he bought one of the better
hotels. Although he had some money, he chose not to fu lfill comnmrdly
duties, such as making donations, and the JalLpanese in Tacoaia were
thinking of throwing him out of th© hotel owners* association* Also,
he was accused of depriving a widower of his hotel#

At a joint arareftiag of the Council and block commissioners the
Pickling Plant labor dispute was brought up for discussion. Fujii,
as chairman of the Council, reported the dispute in the following
manner:

Because of a labor dispute the administration threatened
to close the plant* Hiere was a d«aand for a continuation of
making of tsukemono. An official memo was sent to Davidson*

A reply came from M iller saying that the main reason for
closing the plant was vegetable shortage, aiad that the plant
would be closed until June. original plan was to cut the
workers down to about 5 workers, but because of difficulty in
raakiag the cut it was decided to close th© plant down entirely*
The farm division could not buy vegetables anyiaore, but the
Steward Divisioid could continue the pickling* The workers
complained that it would be unfair for the adiainistratian

to close the plant only to solve the labor trouble. Karaaya
suggested that the workers transfer to his division, and work
in the pickling piant until the tsukemono was all disposed of.
This was decided upon, and nine men returned to work* There
has been personal misunderstamdiags, but as a result of the
joint sieetiag that has been solved, too*

At this same meeting Ken Yamada, block coinmissioner, attacked Hara

by getting up and saying:
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win a memo of the Pickling Plant it is stated that
S# Hara and Kamaya have the power in selecting the personnel
of the plant* I don*t know them well, but they may show bias
in their choice*w

Roy Akiyama, councilman, brought up the conflict of the old and new
leadership at the same time when he said:

wrhe council and. another group seem to be conflicting*
That is, the Council and the administrative advisors may
collide in the future* 18hat should be done about this
situation?"

Fuju dropped the discussion by saying:

"That eaa be handled at tliat time* There addins to have
been a great deal of misunderstanding on what Yamada-san
brought up. Stafford is detarminad to handle all matters
through the Council***

Takeda, councilman, and chairman of the Food Committee, took up
the matter of getting recorameadation for the production of rniso. which
Rawlings had prevented. He said:

"I*"® the youngest of the ceuncilniQn, but have been

asked to take over the chairmanship of an important com-

rnitte©* In regards to the Pickling Plant, Mr* Davidson

and Mr. Rawlings went to Gila and recommended the in-

creased production of tsukemono‘ There's some aieo being

made in the Plant, and its manufacture has been stopped

with the closing down of the tsukemono plant* |If the

people are in favor of miao production, | would like to

have the Council go on rdcord and send a recoMoendation

to Washington*1

Enthusiasm was expressed by m 3t of th 3e present for the production

of Japanese foods+ Twice Ken Yamada put in a plug for Sato to be recoia
mended as supervisor. The Council went on record approving the manu-

facture of as many varieties of Japanese foods as possible.l

1. J 3/721/44 #1,#2
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March 22, Sato went to the Plant today, but nothing happened,
Kano acted in a friendly sianner toward him and said that he was thiaking
of going to the Ad Building to get Satofs agsignment. Sato did not
seem too anxious to go back to work«

March 23-24* Three carloads of Kappa came in, and Kano went to
M iller to get hold of them for the tsukemono plante It seeias definite
that excess vegetable was available for preservation in the tsukesioiio
factory* M iller told him, however, that he was only a packing shed
foreman and had nothing to do with the pickling Plant, which had been
closed. Kano then tried to get Kogita to go around to the esshalla
to tell the cooks that they should refuse to siake their own tsukemono*
Kano, it seem3, isas attempting to reopen the taukomoni™ plant, mth
himself as the head* Takeda advised against K gita*s telling the cooks
wkat to do because he could be sent to jail as an agitatore He also
stated that the Council would not allow the administration to reopen
the p&skling plant now.

Sakoda discussed situation with Tstkeda, Takeda felt that Kano
had no right to boss the workers around. Also, he felt that the
Council could not attack Kano without some sort of action from the
workers first. He thought that Kamaya and Hara should be held res-
ponsible for Sato*s not being reinstated, and that the Council
should ledge a complaint against these two men* As far aa it is known
no action was taken, however, and Sato complained that the Council

had double-crossed hint*

1 J
2/2 ] ii
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Aftenaathe Work in the Pickling Plant lasted through J\priX,
after which the workers transferred to the farm division* Sato and
his wife finally never joined the workers in the Pickling Plant,
and Sato found another job teaching in Adult Education Department.
With the help of Father Joe ~kniguchi left his two orphans and re-
located to Chicago,~- Takeda proceeded to lay the groundwork for gainiig
administrative approval for the manufacture of Japanese foods such
as mia , mo~ashi (bean sprouts), teukoaono, age-tofu (fried bsan cakes),

by sending a request to Washington*~

1. J 3/25/44 #2
2/ 3 4/4/44 #3
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Piokling Plant Conflict Analysis

Complete analysis of the pickling plant oonfliot re-
port will not be made at this time, and the analysis 0011
fined to certain aspects only A compietie analysis should
inolude the analysi of the technique used in gathering the
data, reliability and completeness of the data, the method
of organizing the material. Here a somewhat ketohy review
will be made of the social structure as indicated the
inoldent*

Social Straoture

When the relationship among the participants of the
pickling plant eonfllot is oonsidered, two different types
of olestvs™es are noticeable* The fix* t one is determined
lay the iii titutional nature of tlie project and one that
cannot be changed by the whim of the Individual# This first
type of cleavage places individuals in a superordinate—sub-
ordinate relationship < suoh a the relationship of the fore-
man to the workers and indicates rank* The second type of
oleavage is not predetermined by a formal ruling of any sort,
bat exist primarily in the minds of the individuals.

Formal Cleavage

The more formal uperordixiate- subordinate cleavage is
largely predetermined by the nature of the project. Being
a Ffederal government project orders are lIssued to the local
project administration from Washington* Tlie residenteva-
ouees are charges of the government, and as uwli are under
the care of government representative and workers, who are

all Caucasian = The projeot, however, is administered with
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the help of evaouees, who are usually workers or foremen
Bliit who sometimes rise to the position of supervisor* The
highest position however, are always maintained by Gauoa
ian and In no oases do Cauoasians work under evaouees*
The participants of the Piokling Plant conflict can
\e graded into the following hierarohy of rank§ beginning

with the highest and extending to the lowest*

Particioants
arik Official Unofficia.l
Project Director.=._Stafford
Assistants and
Stibdnsdtcno”KxribB
Advisors to 7?el)eeee Miller Personal Advisors

Davidson
Community Counoil

Division Heads**#e#_Rawlings

Lvacuee Leaders*.*_,*___._. eeessssessfather Joe, Sakoda,
Supervisor ........ Hara
Kamaya
Sato
Foreman........ . *. .Taniguohi
Leader of Workers., ... ... .. ....... Kogita
Kano

Workers.._...._... "Workers



Piokling Plant Conflict Analysis-"3

The position of the Qommunity Council has not been definitely
determined. Its fuaotion is largely advi ory, but beoause
It oan appeal to Stafford dlreotly, i1ts influence is some-
times jJust as great as that of an assistant project director™

The position of such individuals as Father Joe end Sakoda

has not "been determined rfoimaXly 'but the ave "some i1Influenoe

over the mass of workers, and can be placed on a level with

supervisor and foremen* Their iInfluence does not extend
outside of evacuee oiroles. As personal advisor to Stafford
it 1s possible that Hara has even more iInfluence than Raw-
lings T but since the creation of the Commanity CounolX and
the relegation of the blook managers, of which Hara was
formerly the head* to a minor positiont his power as an in*
formal advisor to the project director has been steadily de-
olining#

It should be noted that enmities and friend hips are
not entirely unrelated to this hierarchy of rank difference*
The tendency for an individual to be antagonistic to the
one just above or "below the one toward whom he i1s antagonistic #

Is especially noticeable. For Instanoe! Miller and Davidson,

on the ame planef are antagonistic toward each other* David-
son di like Rawling < whereas Miller in a different division
seems to have befriended him. Sato is antagonistic toward
Tooah Rawlings and Kamsya snd Hara, but is on good terras with
Davidson* Taniguchi becomes friendly with Rawlihgs and at-
taoks Sato. The workers siade with Sato against their fore-

man t Taniguohi* Kano, one of the TOrkersfT at first sides
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with Sato to attack Taniguohi, and then when the latter Is
out of the way, side with Rawlings to deprive Sato of his
Job#
Psychological CleaWhile the more formal rank dlfferenoe
serves to aooentuiate the gap between the Cauoa ian administra*
tors and the evaouee residents, the psychological cleavage
which outs across both groups and rank difference in general
is more difficult to describe. It may not 'l» possible to
H E EER .L

1 HE E EHN -rl e
as revealed in the Piokling Plant Conflict report* The first
step in this direction ia to place the participants on a
continuum based on enmities and friendships and differences
in attitude toward the Piokling Plant oonfliot.

Several individuals have indicated their attitude plainly
enough to be employed &s standards whereby to Judge the others
At one extreme we can niaoe Sato* He has been in favor of
expanding the plant to manufacture Japanese food for the
residents* He has been lenient toward his workers about th€
number of hours they worked or the taking home of vegetables*
He has shown reluctance to compromise with the administration
in reaching a ettlement of the dispute* He has spoken of
Cauoasians in a derogatory wasn and has shown dislike for
them* Sato” attitude is generally evaouee-oentered and is
anti-adn”inistration* Some of the workers and residents on_
doubtedly feel as Sato doesf especially those generally con-

sidered nradioal”, nunstable.T or dissatisfied.
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At the other extreme we oan place Rawlings, even though
his attitade is not too well known* Prom what is known of
him it oan ba aid that his attitude toward evacuees is one
which permits him to consider himself superior to those
working for him. 11lis is indicated by liis attempt to retain
Taniguohi in total disregard of the supervisor and the feel-
ing of the workerst He also showed lack of sympathy and
understanding of evaouee needs when he refused experimental
tion on mlso and ordered the oiosing of the tsukemono plant*
Miller took the same stand that Rawlings did, and can be
olassed with him* Stafford*s position in the njatter is not
known, although he seems to have been somewhat more sympathetic
to Sato*s cause than either Miller or Rawlings*

The eyaoaee counterpart to Rawlings is well-illustrated
by Mrs* Hara. She was opposed to the expansion of evaouee
privilegesf saoh as the manufacture of miso or the taking
110re of veget T&lest although he was not against reserving
the latter privilege for herself* She was even opposed to
the excessive use of eleotrio lights in the Plant* When the
Plant was closed dowi to solve the ooufllott she expressed
delight* She has favored the restriction of evacuee pri*
yileges and the upllOiding of admini trative regulationss
S* Hara (unrelated to Mrs* Kara) has indicated the same
attitudes as Mts. Hara. He favored both the restriction of
the manufacture of miso and the elimination of Sato as super*
visor* A person who has oome to be associated with Rawlings

and Mrs* Hara is Taniguohi* Ee opposed the expan ion of the
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plant, and helped the administration by infoming it of
Sato’s habits, an act open to serious charges within the
center among the residents*

Other have been less extreme in their attitude* In-
dividuals like Father Joe, Sakoda, and Yamada sided with
Sato In his struggle against Sgmiguohi* They indicated that
they were against moves whioh reduced the privileges of the
eyaouees* They were opposed to suoh individuals as Rawlings,
bat not neoe arily ant;i*admiiiistrati Ji* one point which
differentiated them from Sato# They desired settling matters
in the evaoaees* favor* Imt they al o desired a peaceful
gettlemen*fc_ if possible* In this group goold also be placed
Takedas oounoliman, who believed In eliminating the adminis*
tratlon*domlinated set up in Minidokaf to the more evaouee-
oentered one that he had witnessed in Tale Lake#

The Council a a group lias had less sympathy for Sato *
oause and an unwillingness to protest against Rawlings than
the group Ja t mentioned* The Council did not gae tion Raw
lings and Miller* olosing down, of the plant In order to
settle the labor dispute* and instead ohose to iron out
diffiouXties without upsetting the administrative stand.
Consequently, the solution they worked oat was a middle
stand between the two extremese However, if it had not bfien
for individuals like Takeda, there is reason to believe that

the outoome might have been nmuoh worse for Sato than It was.
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Dr* Shigaya, for instance, felt that the incident; should
be OOllsidered a Mlosed ” one nhen Rawlings annoanoed that
the workers were terminated and the pjant was closed* How
ever, as a group, the Gouncii s far Jgoa yapathiziiig with
individuals like “anigaohi or Hara* In faott/vlv?ig@awas formerly
Stafford* personal advisor# was openly attacked by oounoiX*
men in their discossio113« The Council also had not made
any definite alliance with any Caucasian on the project*
Somewhat more oompromi ing in attitude than Miller,
Bawling S* Hara, 2lanlguohif and iiirs* Hara are Davidson
and Kjamaya* Davidson was in disagreement with Miller and
somewhat in sympathy with Sato# He has "been willing to give
in to demand made on Mm by Sato, when Rawlings would have
refused them* Davidson, however, was not willing to start
an open conflict with Miller in order to apport Sato* He
showed willingness to correct matters, however, by trans.
furring the Industry Seotion to the Steward Division, where
there would be no interference from Rawlings. Kamayat who
Kaotiktite: wa required to take orders from Bawlings and listen
to Harae aligned himself oloBely with these two* Howevert
he showed some willingness to do what he could for Sato's
oaase* When he was accused of having aided Taniguohi and
Rawlings in obtaining time sheets pre-signed by Sato» he

showed great embarrassmente At the conference he offered

to sidestep Railing order to rddaoe the number of workers
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in the Pickling PJLant by allowing all of the workers to
return to work under speoial arrangements that he himself
would make*

One individual difficult to place on the oontinuum is
Kano* At first he sided with Sato and the majority of the
workers, and actively attacked Sanigaolii* This behavior
seems to place him olose to Satols end of the scale» After
Taniguohi was outstedf he aligned himself \?ith Hara and
Kaajaya, and prevented Sato*s return *® work* 2?his behavior
places him close to the opposite extreme« Kano*s attitude,
in other workds, lias ohanged with the ohange of oiroomstanoeB,
and seems to be more a matter of expedienoy than of oonviotion.
In contrast, Kogita showed a desire to remain true to Sato
even at the expense of his job* Attitude * evidently, are
subject to ohangef

Most of the workers supported Sato, "but when their jobs
were at stake # they decided to abandon him* The workers

were not willing to oppose Rawlings* solution to the bitter
end* However$ they showed antagonism toward saoh individuals

a SfersL and and later toward Kano* Three worker
were inflaenoed by Uahiguohi and one by Kiano and were alienated
from the rest of the vrorisers* The w>rkers, theng were strung
along a wide range of the oontinaum*

e following ohart according to attitudIftj™l and rank

difference can now be mades
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PRO-EVACUEE ATTITUDE PRO-ADHIUISTRATION

Extreme Compromising Extreme

Stafford/7 ?

/™ounciJL Gounollz /DavidsozV /Miller/
Go-Betweens r /Rawlings/*
ISato/ /lamaygt/ /Sara/
/ Tani ~uohi/
/ ogita/ /Kano lano Mrs, Hara/

Worker Workers \orisers//wEer s/N?/ker/
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Comparison of oleavageB s%Ye attitudinal or psyohologioal
oi1eavage in this incident lias been the impor*feant ffeotor in
placing an individual on one side or the other of the oon-
fXiote Neither r&nk difference nor administratioii-»evacaee
difference have been ae izrportaixt in the conflict as this
psychological difference. What then has happened to the
administration-evacuee opposition which has always been con-
sidered an important faotor In any lator OO0lUfliot on the pro-
jeot? The majority of the Caucasians involved kept together,
and so did the majority of the eyabuees# Within the adminis-
tration only Ddtflascm seemed *o T sympathetic toward Sato*
Of the evacuees who side# with Rawlings and (Taniguohi most
of them have been persons in key positions (Haraf Kamaya,
Tanigaohi) or persons who were triving for leadership posi-
tions (Xano, Mrs. Hara) or persons who attaoked themselves to
these indivldaal two workers attached themsgJLYes to

And oné o iChjeio) * he ira majoiritjy of 16 wor ers
favored Sato and opposed Taniguchi. There was also a group
of leaders who opposed the Hara-Hamaya group and sided

Sato and his workers* This analysi gives as the following

general groupings

/Leaders/ /Leaders/
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Shis split within the administration, the evaouee
leadership and among the workers and residents ha Jseen
found in other OOlfliot situations* 3%e "balance of power
between the two factions has not alway been the same* in
the Piokling Plant conflict Miller and Rawlings greatly over-
powered }=aTldson« Stafford seems to have rsatined largely
neatral in the matter* The faot that Rawsiings was able to
settle the izrouble by closing down the plant is an indication
of the power he had*

The straggle between the two factions of evaouee© was
much more involved. One group of leaders received hardly
any support from the workers, bat were given strong support
by the administration* The other group of leaders were
strongly supported by the workers, but had hardly no support
ftom the administration. |If the vrorkers: leaders h&d been
weak, Sato woald not have had a oilanoe of returning to work
and the Plant probably woald have "been reopened by a super*
visor chosen "by Rawlings# On the other hand, If the workers*
leaders had possessed more power than they did havee they
would have prevented Rawlings from closing domi the tsukemono
plant in the first place* By attacking the oppos/Jition
leadership— Hara and Kamaya--and getting rid of Taniguohl
the workers* leaders were able to achieve a compromise solu-
tion hereby muoh of Hawlings: restriction of evaouee pri~
Tlleges was undone*

It is a general observation that the new leadership

represented by the pro-evaoaee elements is gaining in power



yielding Plant Confli ct Analysis— 12

and that the old leadership represented by the pro-adminis-
tration group is rapidly losing power# While the solution
the pro-evetctiee groii!) to affeot wst only a oompro*
mise, it represented a great increase In power when compared
to former dsyB when the administration was able to govern

the evacuees much as they liked# pro-administration infii*
yidaals like Tanigaohi and Utq9 Hara were effeotirely suppressed
by pro-evaoaee elementsf which had not t)een done before#
Pro~atoinistration leaders like Kamaya ana Hara were attacked
and placed on tXie defensive, wheafe formerly they had been
oritioiaed only in private.

The increase In pow™ of the pro-evaouee grouf over
the |>ro-adraiiiistration group does not take into consideration
the power of the administrsticm* Wen that power is taken
into consideration, the balance or power still rests with
the administration* Other groups whioh have taken
part In the oonfliot to lend support to one side or the other,
but whioh were not involved idrectly in the oonfliot* were
the Washington office* the general public, workers in other
departments and residents in general#

The rise in power of the pro-evaouee group and the
existence of oonfliats is often associated# especially by
the pro-administration group, with the advent of Tuleans on
the the project last fall as the result of the segregation
program* This impression may be Increased by the Ploitling
Plant conflict "beocaix e many of the wrkers in that Plant

were o?uleanB* An analysis of the sympathy of the partioi*



Plolcling Plant Conflict Analysis— 13

pants, however, will quickly show hat Tuleans were also
divided on the issue! Both Sato and Taniguohl, the centers
of the conflict, were ex*2aleans* Kano, who witohed sides
was ai 0 an ex_Tulean» On the other hand, Minidokans such
as Kogita, Yamadaf and Father Joe were active in the pro-
eyaoaee group* Here agajja one is impreseed with the fact
that the separation into two opposing factions outs across
all other groups*

This, however, does not mean that falean did not
feot the situation at all# The majority of Tuleans were
awaxe of tiie stigma attached to being called as an admixii
trative ffstooge*w Taleans like Tsajikawa# Sato sakodaf stud
Takeda were aware all through the struggle that the main
Issue at stake was whether the evacuees were going to receive
ooi1 iteration of needs or not- IPheir desire was to remove
from key positionsf evacuees o worked against the best
interest of the residents, and to attack administrative per-
sonne:r members who imposed excessive restrictions on evacuees
They did much to guide the straggle along this ohajonelt As
Takeda expressed it, the Minidoka people needed Teducation*TF
They seemed to be getting it, tooe

The struggle then i not between (Dulean and Minidokans*
but rather between ways maintained in Tule Lake and the ways
which dominated Minidoka. The former held evaouee interest
in high regard and was highly demooratic# The latter tended

to uphold adminlstratiye orders and to be authoritarian in

e I ITus X836 INIE oo1106ptl  jf a 1 6Sdel V=5 0116 VMO
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att ted to gain advazrt&ges for the egiMsaees « In Minidoka
the leaders tended to show authority by restricting the
privileges of the residents. Th&t more Taleans shaald hold
the !Mll6ans ldeal and work actively to pat It Into effect is
to be ejected* This faott however, does not exolade the
MiInldolcanis who desire to correct what they believe to be

fl ws in their own project*



